
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE

EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

Alexandria Division

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
) CRIMINAL NO. 1:04 M 1133

v. )
) VIOLATION:

AMERICA ONLINE, [NC, ) 18 U.S.C. § 2
) (Aiding & Abetting)

Defendant. ) 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 78ff Title 17 C.F.R. Section
) 240. lOb-5 (Securities Fraud)

DEFERRED PROSECUTION AGREEMENT

America Online, Inc. (hereinafter "AOL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Time Warner
Inc., by its undersigned attorneys and its Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to authority granted
by its board of directors, and the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of
Virginia ("EDVA") and the United States Department of Justice, Criminal Division (collectively
the "Department of Justice"), enter into this Deferred Prosecution Agreement ("Agreement")

1. AOL understands that the United States will file a criminal complaint in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia charging AOL with aiding and
abetting securities fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2, Title 15, United
States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section
240. lOb-5.

2. During the Department of Justice's ongoing criminal investigation into various
business transactions between AOL and numerous AOL partners, the Department of Justice has
notified AOL that, in the judgment of the Department of Justice, AOL, acting through certain
officers and employees, has violated federal criminal law in 2000, 2001 and 2002 in connection
with transactions between AOL and PurchasePro.com ("PPRO") (hereafter "PPRO
Transactions"). Aspects of the PPRO Transactions are described in more detail in the Statement
of Facts attached hereto as Appendix A and incorporated by reference herein.

3. AOL accepts and acknowledges responsibility for the conduct of AOL personnel
giving rise to violations of criminal law in connection with the PPRO Transactions by entering
into this Agreement and by, among other things, the remedial actions it has taken to date, its
continued commitment to full cooperation with the Department of Justice, its agreement to
establish a compensation and settlement fund and to pay a monetary penalty. AOL agrees not to
contest or contradict the factual statements set forth in Appendix A, as more fully addressed in
paragraph 12. AOL does not endorse, ratify, or condone improper conduct and, as set forth
below, has taken steps to prevent such conduct from occurring in the future.
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4. Based upon AOL's acceptance of responsibility; its adoption of internal
compliance measures, set forth in Appendix B; its cooperation with the Independent Monitor
described in paragraph 13; its agreement with the Department of Justice to pay into a
compensation and settlement fund $150,000,000.00, which includes $30,000,000.00 for the
PPRO Transactions, as described in more detail in paragraph 9 below; its agreement with the
Department of Justice to pay a monetary penalty of $60,000,000.00, as described in paragraph 10
below; and its willingness to continue to cooperate with the Department of Justice in its
investigation of the matters described herein; the Department of Justice, on the understandings
specified below, agrees:

a. To recommend to the Court that prosecution of AOL on the criminal
complaint filed pursuant to paragraph 1 be deferred for a period of 24 months;

b. Not to prosecute AOL for any other conduct relating to the PPRO
Transactions, including any accounting, statements, disclosures, or omissions
related to the PPRO Transactions; and

Not to prosecute AOL for conduct committed by AOL relating to the
transactions set forth in the list of covered transactions attached as Appendix
C and incorporated herein ("Covered Transactions"). This also includes any
accounting, statements, disclosures, or omissions related to the Covered
Transactions, from July 1, 1999 through the date of this Agreement. This
section does not confer immunity for violations of antitrust, bribery or tax -
statutes, rules or regulations.

Should the Court decline to approve the Agreement to defer prosecution for any
reason, this Agreement shall be null and void, and the parties shall revert to their pre-agreement
positions.

AOL understands and agrees that if it commits a material, willful and knowing
breach of this Agreement, as provided in paragraph 17 below, the Department of Justice can
prosecute AOL for conduct committed by it through its officers and employees relating to the
PPRO Transactions or any of the Covered Transactions. This Agreement does not provide any
protection to any individual or any entity other than AOL. This paragraph 4 shall survive
termination of this Agreement. - -

5. During the term of this Agreement, AOL agrees to cooperate completely with the
Department of Justice, the Independent Monitor described in paragraph 13 below, and, as
directed by the EDVA or the Criminal Division, with any other federal criminal law enforcement
agency regarding any matters related to the PPRO Transactions or the Covered Transactions.
AOL shall truthfully disclose to the Department of Justice information within AOL's possession,
custody or control with respect to the PPRO Transactions and the Covered Transactions about
which the Department of Justice shall inquire, and shall continue to cooperate fully with the
Department of Justice. This obligation of truthful disclosure includes an obligation to provide
the Department of Justice access to AOL's documents and employees, whether or not located in
the United States, and reasonable access to AOL's facilities for that purpose. The disclosure
obligations set forth in this Agreement are subject to paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement.
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6. AOL agrees that with respect to both the PPRO Transactions and the Covered
Transactions, its cooperation shall include, but is not limited to, the following, subject to
paragraph 8:

a. Completely and truthfully disclosing information within AOL's possession,
custody or control with respect to the activities of AOL, its affiliates and its
present and former officers, agents, and employees, concerning the subject
matters inquired into by the Department of Justice as requested by the
Department of Justice;

b. Assembling, organizing and providing on request from the Department of
Justice documents, records, or other tangible evidence related to the subject
matters in AOL's possession, custody, or control in such format as the
Department of Justice reasonably requests. Where appropriate, AOL will
continue to use the services of expert technical consultants to assist in the
identification and retrieval of relevant data.

c. Using its reasonable best efforts to make available its present or former
officers, directors and employees, whether or not located in the United States,
to provide information and/or testimony related to the subject matters as
requested by the Department of Justice, including sworn testimony before a
federal grand jury or in federal trials, as well as interviews with federal law
enforcement authorities. Cooperation under this paragraph will include
identification of witnesses who, to AOL's knowledge, may have material
information regarding the subject matters.

d. Providing testimony and other information deemed necessary by the
Department of Justice or a court to identify or establish the original location,
authenticity, or other evidentiary foundation necessary to admit into evidence
documents in any criminal or other proceeding as requested by the
Department of Justice related to the subject matters.

7. AOL further agrees to the following:

a. During the term of this Agreement, AOL will make available to the -
Department of Justice copies of (i) the portions of any Time Warner Internal
Audit Monthly Activity Report, and the portions of any Time Warner
Compliance Committee Log, that concern any Covered Transaction; (ii) any
letter threatening litigation that is received by AOL, or any civil complaint
that is filed and served on AOL, from a counterparty to any Covered
Transaction concerning the Covered Transaction; and (iii) any documents and
privilege log entries, not previously produced to the government, that are
produced in the civil shareholder cases concerning any Covered Transaction.
The obligation to make information available to the Department of Justice
under this sub-paragraph shall not require the disclosure of any information
protected by the attorney-client or work product privileges, but is subject to
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paragraph 8. Although AOL may voluntarily choose to investigate further, no
further investigation shall be required as a condition of this Agreement.

b. Concurrent with the signing of this Agreement, AOL will adopt a new internal
standard of conduct under which it will inform the Department of Justice of
any new matter reported to Time Warner's Audit and Finance Committee that
involves substantial and credible evidence of any Federal Crimes as defined in
paragraph 17 of this Agreement. The obligation to inform the Department of
Justice under this new standard of conduct shall be subject to the following
limits: (i) it shall apply only to matters involving conduct committed at AOL
after the date of this Agreement; (ii) it shall apply only to matters that are in
fact reported to Time Warner's Audit and Finance Committee, and although
AOL may voluntarily choose to investigate further, no investigation shall be
required as a condition of this Agreement; (iii) it shall require reasonably
timely notification of the Department of Justice; and (iv) it shall not require
the disclosure of any information protected by the attorney-client or work
productprivileges. A failure to make information available under this sub-
paragraph shall not be considered a breach of this Agreement pursuant to
paragraph 17, but the new standard of conduct shall not be modified during
the term of the Agreement without the consent of the Department of Justice.

8. AOL also agrees that with respect to any waiver of privilege, its cooperation shall
entail the following:

a. Not asserting a claim of attorney-client or work-product privilege as to
contemporaneous legal advice or opinion given to AOL personnel regarding a
transaction, or any documents, information, or testimony related to any factual
internal investigation conducted: (i) prior to November 28, 2001 concerning
the PPRO Transactions; or (ii) prior to May 1, 2002, concerning any
specifically identified Covered Transaction as deemed necessary by the
Department of Justice to investigate, charge or prosecute any individual in
connection with the PPRO Transactions. Any such material provided to the
Department of Justice pursuant to this subparagraph will be governed by the
Confidentiality Agreement effective November 26, 2003, entered into by the
Department of Justice, AOL and Time Warner Inc. ("Confidentiality
Agreement"). In making production of any such material, AOL neither
expressly nor implicitly waives its right to assert any privilege that is available
under law against entities other than the Department of Justice concerning the
produced material or the subject matters thereof This waiver provision does
not extend to: (i) defense or current representation materials; (ii) opinion
work-product or legal advice based on any internal investigation; or (iii) any
privileged material generated on or after May 1, 2002 (or with respect to the
PPRO Transactions, on or after November 28, 2001).

b. If the Department of Justice, in furtherance of a criminal investigation
concerning any of the Covered Transactions, requests production of material
protected by the attorney-client or work-product privileges pursuant to this
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subparagraph 8.b, and if AOL does not comply with such request, it shall not
be considered a breach of this Agreement pursuant to paragraph 17, but the
Department of Justice may, in its sole discretion, withdraw its release of
liability set forth in paragraph 4.c with regard to the transaction subject to the
request. Any such request for privileged material will not extend beyond any• -
contemporaneous legal opinion or advice given to AOL personnel regarding a
transaction, or any documents, information, or testimony regarding a factual
internal investigation, and will not require the production of any defense or
current representation material, opinion work product or legal advice related
to or based on any internal investigation, or any privileged material generated
on or after May 1, 2002. Any privileged material provided to the Department
of Justice pursuant to this subparagraph will be governed by the
Confidentiality Agreement, and will not constitute an express or implied
waiver of AOL's right to assert any privilege that is available under law
against entities other than the Department of Justice concerning the produced
material or the subject matters thereof.

9. Within 10 days of the entry of an order by the Court approving this Agreement,
AOL agrees to pay $150,000,000.00 into a compensation and settlement fund to be established
under its direction and control to be used for either the settlement of shareholder securities law
litigation or for purposes of any compensation fund established by any federal or state agency,
related to or arising from the PPRO Transactions or the Covered Transactions, including the
accounting for the transactions and the statements, disclosures, or omissions related to the
transactions. No moneys from this fund, however, shall be used to satisfy any monetary
penalties imposed by the SEC or any law enforcement agency. None of the proceeds of the fund
shall be payable as attorney's fees. All costs of administering the account are to be borne by
AOL. In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to paragraph 17 below, any
amounts still remaining in this account may be reclaimed by AOL and used for any purpose. To
the extent any money in the escrow account is not used within three (3) years, AOL shall transfer
the remaining amount to the United States Treasury and execute any documents necessary to
effectuate such transfer.

10. Within 10 days of the entry of an order by the Court approving this Agreement,
AOL agrees to pay $60,000,000.00 to the United States Treasury as a monetary penalty. In the -
event of any termination of this Agreement pursuant to paragraph 17 below, any amounts paid by
AOL as a penalty shall not be returned to AOL, but shall be credited by the Department of
Justice against any amounts in the future determined or agreed to be owing by AOL as a
monetary penalty in this matter.

11. AOL authorizes the Department of Justice and the SEC to share information from
and about AOL with each other and hereby waives any confidentiality accorded to that
information by law, agreement or otherwise that would, absent authorization by AOL, prohibit or
limit such sharing. No further waivers of confidentiality shall be required in that regard.

12. AOL further agrees that it will not, through its present or future attorneys, board
of directors, agents, affiliates, parent, officers or employees, make any public statement,
including statements or positions in litigation in which any United States department or agency is
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a party, contradicting any statement of fact set forth in the Statement of Facts attached at
Appendix A. Any such willful, knowing and material contradictory public statement by AOL,
its present or future attorneys, board of directors, agents, officers or employees, shall constitute a
breach of this Agreement, and AOL thereafter would be subject to prosecution as set forth in
paragraph 17 of this Agreement. The decision of whether any public statement by any such
person contradicting a statement of fact contained in the Statement of Facts will be imputed to
AOL for the purpose of determining whether AOL has breached this Agreement shall be at the
sole reasonable discretion of the Department of Justice. If and when the Department of Justice
determines that such a contradictory statement has been made by AOL, the Department of
Justice shall so notify AOL and AOL may avoid a breach of this Agreement by publicly
repudiating such statement within three business days after notification by the Department of
Justice. This paragraph is not intended to apply to any statement made by any individual in the
course of any criminal, regulatory, or civil case initiated by the government against such
individual, unless such individual is speaking on behalf of AOL. Consistent with AOL's
obligation not to contradict any statement of fact set forth in the Statement of Facts, AOL may
take good faith positions in litigation involving any private party.

13. AOL agrees that for the time-period of this Agreement, it will retain and pay for
an independent Monitor, who will be mutually agreed upon by the Department of Justice and
AOL. The Monitor will undertake a special review of: the effectiveness of AOL's internal
control measures related to its accounting for advertising and related transactions; the training
related to these internal control measures; AOL's deal sign-off and approval procedures; and
AOL's corporate code of conduct. AOL agrees to cooperate with the Independent Monitor.

The Monitor shall:

a. have access to any information provided by AOL to the Department of
Justice, however with respect to privileged materials, access will be limited to
those materials that have been provided by AOL to the Department of Justice
and that access shall be subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement;

b. monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of AOL's internal control measures,
including the Time Warner internal audit monthly activity report and
compliance committee log, the training related to these internal control
measures, signoff and approval procedures and corporate code of conduct;

c. make a report on the effectiveness of AOL's internal control measures related
to its accounting for transactions involving AOL's sale of on-line advertising
and related transactions and of AOL's deal sign-off and approval procedures
and corporate code of conduct to Time Warner's Audit and Finance
Committee, with a copy to the Department of Justice;

d. make recommendations to Time Warner's Audit and Finance Committee as to
any needed improvements, revisions or new policies or procedures necessary
to ensure the effectiveness of AOL's internal control measures, policies or
procedures;

Page 6 of 11

EOUSA 156



e. report to the Department of Justice on at least a semi-annual basis, as to
AOL' s cooperation with the Monitor;

f. have the right to select and hire outside accounting expertise if necessary to
assist in the review; and

g. have the authority to extend the period of review for up to an additional six
months, with Department of Justice approval.

The Monitor will be independent. AOL agrees that there shall be no limitations
on any sharing of information by the Monitor with the Department of Justice.

14. With respect to any information, testimony, document, record or other tangible
evidence provided to the Department of Justice pursuant to this Agreement, AOL consents to any
and all disclosures to the SEC and law enforcement entities of such materials as the Department
of Justice, in its sole reasonable discretion, deems appropriate in furtherance of its criminal
investigation of any individuals related to the subject matters.

15. The Department of Justice agrees that if AOL is in full compliance with all of its
obligations under this Agreement, the Department of Justice, within thirty (30) days of the
expiration of twenty-four (24) months from the date of this Agreement, will seek dismissal with
prejudice of the criminal complaint filed against AOL pursuant to paragraph 1.

16. AOL shall waive all rights to a speedy trial pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of
the United States Constitution, Title 18 United States Code, Section 3161, Federal Rule of
Criminal Procedure 48(b), and any applicable Local Rules of the United States District Court for
the Eastern District of Virginia for the period that this Agreement is in effect.

17. It is further understood that should the Department of Justice, in its reasonable
discretion and in good faith, determine that AOL willfully and knowingly has given materially
false, incomplete, or misleading information under this Agreement, or has committed any
Federal Crimes (as defined below) subsequent to the date of this Agreement, or that AOL
otherwise has breached this Agreement by willfully, knowingly and materially violating any
provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall become null and void and AOL shall, in the
Department of Justice's reasonable discretion, thereafier be subject to prosecution for any federal
criminal violation, including prosecution for acts subject to the release of liability in paragraph 4
relating to the PPRO Transactions or the Covered Transactions. Any such prosecutions may be
premised on information provided by AOL. Moreover, with respect to any prosecutions relating
to the PPRO Transactions or the Covered Transactions that are not time-barred by the applicable
statute of limitations on the date of this Agreement, AOL agrees that the applicable statute-of-
limitations period for any such prosecutions shall be tolled for a period of time equal to the term
of this Agreement, so that such prosecutions may be commenced against AOL in accordance
with this Agreement, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of limitations between the
signing of this Agreement and the expiration of this Agreement. s tolling of the statute of
limitations is knowing and voluntary and in express reliance on the advice of counsel. As used
in this paragraph, Federal Crimes is limited to: (i) financial fraud related to AOL's business
activities committed by AOL officers or directors at or above the level of Senior Vice President;
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(ii) financial fraud materially affecting the books and records or financial reports of AOL or
another company; or (iii) obstruction ofjustice.

18. It is further agreed that in the event that the Department of Justice, in its
reasonable discretion and in good faith, determines that AOL has committed a willful and -
knowing material breach of this Agreement as described in paragraph 17, then AOL, in any
pleading or at any proceeding or trial:

a. Will stipulate to the admissibility into evidence of the Statement of Facts and
agrees not to offer any contradictory evidence or arguments;

b. Agrees that all statements made by or on behalf of AOL, including testimony
given by AOL and any employee (current or former) before a grand jury, the
SEC, or elsewhere, shall be admissible in evidence in any and all criminal
proceedings brought by the Department of Justice against AOL; and

c. Shall not assert any claim under the United States Constitution, Rule 410 of
the Federal Rules of Evidence, or any other rule, that statements made by or
on behalf of AOL prior to or subsequent to this Agreement, or any leads
derived therefrom, should be inadmissible or suppressed.

19. The decision whether conduct and statements of any individual will be imputed to
AOL for the purpose of determining whether AOL has committed a willful and knowing material
breach of this Agreement shall be in the sole reasonable discretion of the Department of Justice.

20. Should the Department of Justice determine in its reasonable discretion and in
good faith that AOL has committed a willful and knowing material breach of any provision of
this Agreement, the Department of Justice shall, within 30 days of its discovery of the events
giving rise to the alleged breach, provide written notice to AOL of the alleged breach and
provide AOL with a two-week period in which to make a presentation to the United States
Attorney for the Eastern District of Virginia and the Assistant Attorney General in charge of the
Criminal Division, or their designee, to demonstrate that no breach has occurred, or, to the extent
applicable, that the breach is not a willful and knowing material breach or has been cured. The
parties hereto expressly understand and agree that should AOL fail to make a presentation to the
United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Virginia and the Assistant Attorney General in -
charge of the Criminal Division, or their designee, within a two-week period, the Department of
Justice in its sole, reasonable discretion may presume that AOL is in willful and knowing
material breach of this Agreement. The parties further understand and agree that prior to the
filing of an indictment against the Company, the United States Attorney's and Assistant Attorney
General's exercise of discretion under this paragraph is not subject to judicial review.

21. AOL agrees that if it sells or merges all or substantially all of its business
operations as they exist as of the date of this Agreement to or into a single purchaser or group of
affiliated purchasers during the term of this Agreement, it shall include in any contract for sale or
merger a provision binding the purchaser/successor to the obligations described in this
Agreement.
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22. It is understood that this Agreement is binding on AOL, the Department of Justice
Criminal Division and the United States Attorneys' Offices for the Eastern District of Virginia
arid the Central District of California, but specifically does not bind any other federal agencies,
or any federal, state or local law enforcement agency or licensing authorities, although the
Department of Justice will bring the cooperation of AOL and its compliance with its other -
obligations under this Agreement to the attention of federal, state and local law enforcement
agencies or licensing authorities, if requested by AOL or its attorneys. Furthermore, nothing in
this Agreement restricts in any way the ability of the United States Attorneys' Offices for the
Eastern District of Virginia and the Central District of California, or the Department of Justice
Criminal Division from proceeding against any individuals. It is the intent of the parties to this
Agreement that the Agreement does not confer or provide any benefits, privileges or rights to
any individual or other entity other than the parties hereto. AOL may raise defenses and/or
assert affirmative claims in any civil proceedings brought by private parties as long as doing so
does not otherwise violate any term of the Agreement.

23. Except as provided in paragraph 4 above, this Agreement expires two years from
the date of its execution; provided that if on such date any investigation, prosecution or
proceeding relating to the PPRO Transactions or Covered Transactions is ongoing that is being
conducted by the Department of Justice, or any other federal law enforcement agency with which
AOL has been directed by the Department to cooperate pursuant to paragraph 5, then the
cooperation provisions of paragraph 6, 7 and 8 shall continue until such investigation,
prosecution or proceeding concludes, but in no event shall the obligations continue longer than
an additional one year after the expiration of this Agreement. Between thirty and sixty days
before the expiration of this Agreement, AOL shall submit to the Department of Justice a written
certification that it is in compliance with this Agreement.

24. AOL hereby warrants and represents that the Board of Directors of AOL has duly
authorized, in a specific resolution, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by AOL, and
that the person signing the Agreement has authority to bind AOL.

25. This Agreement may not be modified except in writing signed by all the parties.

26. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts.

27. AOL and the Department of Justice agree that, upon filing of the criminal
complaint in accordance with paragraph I, this Agreement shall be filed publicly in the United
States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia.

28. This Agreement sets forth all of the terms of the Deferred Prosecution Agreement
between AOL and the Department of Justice. No modifications or additions to this Agreement
shall be valid unless they are in writing and signed by the Department of Justice, AOL and a duly
authorized representative of AOL.
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On behaJL the United States,

J.
Uhited States Attorney
United States Attorney's Office
Eastern District of Virginia

Deputy
United States Xtorney's Office
Eastern District of Virginia

Charles F. Cormolly
Dana J. Boente
Assistant United States Attorneys
United States Attorney's Office
Eastern District of Virginia

óshuaR.Hochberg
Chief, Fraud Section
Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice

Ada
Trial Attorney, Fraud Section
Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice

Date

Date

/2- //91o9
Date

Date
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On behalf of AOL

Jontl4n Mi r
Cha4than and Chief Executive Officer
America Online, inc.

Date )
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